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IN THE COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CASE NO.:
ROBERT DOYLE, Individually, and all CLASS ACTION
others similarly situated,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Plaintiff,
against

Y Z COMMERCE LLC, and
CREDITFIX.COM,

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Robert Doyle (hereinafter “Plaintiff’), brings this class action against Y Z
COMMERCE LLC and CREDITFIX.COM (“Defendants™), and alleges as follows upon personal
knowledge as to himself and his own acts and experiences, and as to all other matters, upon
information and belief.

NATURE OF THIS ACTION

l. This is a putative class action under the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47
U.S.C. § 227 et seq., ("TCPA"), arising from Defendants’ violations of the TCPA and its
implementing regulations.

2. To promote its credit repair business, Defendants engage in unsolicited telemarketing,
including prerecorded message calls.

3. Through this action, Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief to halt Defendants’ unlawful
conduct, which has resulted in the invasion of privacy, harassment, aggravation, and disruption of
the daily life of thousands of individuals. Plaintiff also seeks statutory damages on behalf of
himself and Class Members, as defined below, and any other available legal and equitable remedies

resulting from the unlawful actions of Defendants.
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PARTIES
4. Plaintiff is, and at all times relevant hereto was, an individual and.a ‘person’ as
defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153 (39).
S. Defendant Y Z Commerce is, and at all times relevant hereto was, a Nevada LLC and

a ‘person’, as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153 (39), that maintains its primary place of business and
headquarters in in Miami, Florida. Defendant directs, markets, and provides business activities
throughout the United States.

6. Defendant Creditfix.Com is a wholly owned subsidiary of Y Z Commerce.

7. Defendants’ principal place of business is located at 6303 Blue Lagoon Drive, Suite
400, Miami, FL 33126.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 USC 1331. This Court has
federal question jurisdiction because this case arises out of violations of federal law 47 U.S.C.
227(b).

9. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2) because all facts
giving rise to this action occurred in this circuit.

THE TCPA

10.  The TCPA prohibits any person from calling a telephone number by using either an
automatic telephone dialing system or an artificial or prerecorded voice, unless the receipient’s prior
express consent was obtained. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A).

11.  The TCPA exists to prevent communications like the ones described within this
Complaint. “Voluminous consumer complaints about abuses of telephone technology — for
example, computerized calls dispatched to private homes-prompted Congress to pass the TCPA.”

Mims v. Arrow Fin. Servs., LLC, 132 S. Ct. 740, 744 (2012).
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12. In an action under the TCPA, a plaintiff must only show that the defendant "called
a number assigned to a cellular telephone service using an automatic dialing system or prerecorded
voice." Breslow v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA., 857 F. Supp. 2d 1316, 1319 (S.D. Fla.2012), aff’d,, 155
F-3d 1265 (11th Cir. 2014).

13. The Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) is empowered to issue rules and
regulations implementing the TCPA. According to the FCC's findings, calls in violation of the
TCPA are prohibited because, as Congress found, automated or prerecorded telephone calls are a
greater nuisance and invasion of privacy than live solicitation calls, and such calls can be costly and
inconvenient. The FCC also recognized that wireless customers are charged for incoming calls
whether they pay in advance or after the minutes are used. Rules and Regulations Implementing the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, CG Docket No. 02-278, Report and Order, 18 FCC
Red 14014 (2003).

14. In 2012, the FCC issued an order tightening the restrictions for automated
telemarketing calls requiring "prior express written consent" for such calls to wireless numbers. See
In the Matter of Rules & Regulations Implementing the Tel. Consumer Prot. Act of 1991, 27
F.C.C.R. 1830, 1838 4ff 20 (Feb. 15, 2012) (emphasis supplied).

15.  To obtain express written consent for telemarketing calls, a defendant must establish

"

that it secured the plaintiff's signature in a form that gives the plaintiff a "'clear and conspicuous
disclosure' of the consequences of providing the requested consent ... and having received this
information, agrees unambiguously to receive such calls at a telephone number the [plaintiff]
designates". In re Rules & Regulations Implementing the Tel. Consumer Prot. Act of 1991, 27
F.C.C.R. 1830, 1837 q 18, 1838 920, 1844 933, 1857 7 66, 1858 § 71 (F.C.C. Feb. 15, 2012).

16.  The TCPA regulations promulgated by the FCC define "telemarketing" as "the

initiation of a telephone call or message for the purpose of encouraging the purchase or rental of,

or investment in, property, goods, or services". 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200(f)(12). In determining whether



Case 2:21-cv-17257-JMV-LDW Document 1 Filed 09/17/21 Page 4 of 10 PagelD: 4

a communication constitutes telemarketing, a court must evaluate the ultimate purpose of the
communication. See Golan v. Veritas Entm't, LLC, 788 F.3d 814,820 (8th Cir. 2015).

17.  "Neither the TCPA ;10r its implementing regulations 'require an explicit mention of
a good, product, or service’ where the implication of an improper purpose is 'clear from the
context’." /d. (citing Hasbro v. Best Buy Stores, L.P., 705 F.3d 913, 918 (9th Cir. 2012)).

18. ""Telemarketing' occurs when the context of a call indicates that it was initiated and
transmitted to a person for the purpose of promoting property, goods, or services." Golan, 788 F.3d
at 820 (citing47 C.F.R. § 64.1200{a)(2)(iii); 47 C.E.R. § 64.1200(f)(12); In re Rules and Regulations
Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 18 F.C.C. Red at 140981141, 2003
WL 21517853, at *49).

19.  The FCC has explained that calls motivated in part by the intent to sell property,
goods, or services are considered telemarketing under the TCPA. See In re Rules and Regulations
Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 18 FCC Red. 14014, §139-142
(2003). This is true whether call recipients are encouraged to purchase, rent, or invest in property,
goods, or services during the call or in the future. Id.

20.  Inother words, offers "that are part of an overall marketing campaign to sell property,
goods, or services constitute" telemarketing under the TCPA. See In re Rules and Regulations
Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 18 FCC Red. 14014, § 136 (2003).

21.  Ifacallis not deemed telemarketing, a defendant must nevertheless demonstrate that
it obtained the plaintiff's prior express consent. See In the Matter of Rules and Regulations
Implementing the Tel. Consumer Prot. Act of 1991, 30 FCC Rcd. 7961, 7991-92 (2015) (requiring
express consent "for non-telemarketing and non-advertising calls").

FACTS

22. At all relevant times, Defendants were in the business, inter alia, of credit repair

services.
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23. On September 20, 2017, at 12:01 pm, and possibly at additional times, Doyle was
contacted, on his personal cell phone, by an automated telephone dialing system using a prerecorded
voice, as defined by 47 U.S.C. §§227(a)(1) and (b)(1)(B) (“ROBO CALL”), offering Doyle credit
repair services.

24.  The recorded voice was that of a female.

25. After listening to the recorded voice, Doyle spoke with a live woman named Amber.

26.  Amber said she was calling from CreditFix.Com and that the website of the firm is
CreditFix.com.

27. The Robo Call was for commercial purposes and did not constitute an emergency.

28. The Robo Call violated 47 U.S.C. § (b)(1)(B).

29.  The aforementioned recorded call(s) were either made by Defendants or by a third
party upon Defendants’ behalf

30.  Atno time did Plaintiff provide Plaintiff’s phone number to Defendants through any
medium, nor did Plaintiff consent to receive such unsolicited calls.

31. Plaintiff has never signed-up for, and has never used, Defendants’ services, and has
never had any form of business relationship with Defendants.

32.  Plaintiff is the subscriber and sole user of the 4166 Number and is financially
responsible for phone service to the 4166 Number, including the cellular costs and data usage
incurred as a result of the unlawful calls made to Plaintiff by Defendants.

33.  These calls were not for emergency purposes, as defined by 47 US.C. §
227(b)(1)(A)®).

34.  Plaintiff did not provide Defendants, nor their agents, prior express consent to receive

calls, including unsolicited calls, to Plaintiff’s telephone, pursuant to 47 U.S.C.
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35.  Plaintiff was damaged by Defendants’ calls. In addition to using Plaintiff’s residential
cellular data, phone storage, and battery life, Plaintiff’s privacy was wrongfully invaded, and
Plaintiff has become understandably irritated and frustrated with having to deal with repeated and
unwanted calls, forcing him to divert attention away from his work and other activities. Not only
did the receipt of the robocalls distract Plaintiff away from his personal activities, he was forced to
spend time investigating the source of the calls. See Muransky v. Godiva Chocolatier, Inc., 905 F.3d
1200, 1211 (11th Cir. 2018). (“[T]ime wasting is an injury in fact”.... “[A] small injury... is enough
for standing purposes”).

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

PROPOSED CLASS

36. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit as a class action on behalf of himself, individually, and
all other similarly situated persons, as a class action, pursuant to Rule 23 of FRCP. The class that
Plaintiff seeks to represent is comprised of and defined as:

All persons within the United States who, within the four years
prior to the filing of this Complaint, received a call from
Defendants, or anyone on Defendants’ behalf, that employed a
prerecorded or artificial voice to said persons’ telephone
numbers, advertising Defendants’ services, without the
recipients’ prior express consent (the “Class” or the “Class
Members”).

37. Excluded from the Class are Defendants, their directors, officers, employees,
subsidiaries, and affiliates; and members of the judiciary.

38.  Plaintiff believes the number of members in the putative Class is likely many

thousand, if not greater.

NUMEROSITY

39.  Upon information and belief, Defendants have placed prerecorded voice calls to

cellular telephone numbers belonging to thousands of consumers throughout the United States
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without their prior express consent. The members of the Class, therefore, are believed to be so
numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.

40. The exact number and identities of the Class Members are unknown at this time and
can be ascertained only through discovery. Identification of the Class Members is a matter capable
of ministerial determination from Defendants', or Defendants’ agents’, call records.

COMMON QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT

41.  There is a well-defined community of common questions of law and fact affecting
the Plaintiff and members of the Class. Common questions of law and/or fact exist as to all members
of the Class and predominate over the questions affecting individual Class Members. These
common legal and/or factual questions include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Whether Defendants made non-emergency calls to Plaintiff and Class Members'
telephones using a prerecorded voice;

b. Whether Defendants can meet their burden of showing that it had express written
consent to make such calls;

c. Whether Defendants’ conduct was knowing and willful,
d. Whether Defendants are liable for damages and the amount of such damages; and
e. Whether Defendants should be enjoined from such conduct in the future.
42.  The common questions in this case are capable of having common answers. If
Plaintiff’s claim that Defendants routinely transmit prerecorded voice calls to telephone numbers
is accurate, Plaintiff and the Class Members will have identical claims capable of being efficiently

adjudicated and administered in this case.

TYPICALITY

43.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class. The claims
of the Plaintiff and members of the Class are based on the same legal theories and arise from the

same course of conduct that violates the TCPA.
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PROTECTING THE INTERESTS OF THE CI.ASS MEMBERS

44.  Plaintiff is a representative who will fully and adequately assert and protect the
interests of the Class and has retained competent counsel. Accordingly, Plaintiff will fairly and
adequately protect the interests of the Class.

SUPERIORITY

45. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this lawsuit, because individual litigation of the claims of all members of the Class
1s economically unfeasible and procedurally impracticable. While the aggregate damages sustained
by the Class are in the millions of dollars, the individual damages incurred by each member of the
Class resulting from Defendants’ wrongful conduct are too small to warrant the expense of
individual lawsuits. The likelihood of individual Class Members prosecuting their own separate
claims is remote, and, even if every member of the Class could afford individual litigation, the court
system would be unduly burdened by individual litigation of such cases.

46. The prosecution of separate actions by members of the Class would create a risk of
establishing inconsistent rulings and/or incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants. For
example, one court might enjoin Defendants from performing the challenged acts, whereas another
might not. Additionally, individual actions might be dispositive of the interests of the Class, even
though some Class Members are not parties to such actions.

COUNT I
VIOLATIONS OF 47 US.C. § 227(b)
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Class)

47.  Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the foregoing allegations as it fully set forth

herein.

48.  Itisaviolation of the TCPA to make “any call (other than a call made for emergency

purposes or made with the prior consent of the called party) using any automatic telephone dialing
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system or an artificial or prerecorded voice...to any telephone number assigned to a ...cellular
telephone service...”. 47 U.S.C. 227(b)(1)(A)(iii).

49.  Defendants used an artificial or prerecorded voice to deliver messages to Plaintiffand
other Class Members without prior consent.

50.  These calls were made without regard to whether or not Defendants had first obtained
express permission from the called parties to make such calls. In fact, Defendants did not have prior
express consent to call any of these telephones.

51.  Defendants have therefore violated § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) of the TCPA by initiating
telephone calls that used artificial or prerecorded voices to deliver non-emergency telephone calls
to the cellular phones of Plaintiff and the other members of the putative Class without their prior
express written consent.

52.  The aforementioned acts and omissions of Defendants constitute numerous and
multiple violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to each and every one of the above-cited
provisions of 47 U.S.C. § 227 et seq.

53. At all relevant times, Defendants knew, or should have known, that their conduct as
alleged herein violated the TCPA.

54. Defendants knew that they did not have prior express consent to make these calls,
and knew, or should have known, that their conduct violated the TCPA.

55. Because Defendants knew, or should have known, that Plaintiff and Class Members
did not give prior express consent to receive calls that employed artificial or prerecorded voices, the
Court should treble the amount of statutory damages recoverable by Plaintiff and members of the
putative Class, pursuant to § 227(b)(3) of the TCPA.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, prays for the following

relief:
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a. An order certifying this case as a class action on behalf of the Class, as defied above,
and appointing Plaintiff the representative of the Class, and Plaintiff’s counsel the
Class counsel;

b. An order declaring that Defendants’ actions, as set out above, violate the TCPA and
its implementing regulations;

c. An injunction requiring Defendants to cease all unsolicited prerecorded and/or
artificial-voice calling activity, and to otherwise protect the interests of the Class;

d. An injunction prohibiting Defendants from using, or contracting the use of,
prerecorded and/or artificial-voice calls without obtaining, recipients’ consent to

receive calls made with such equipment;

e. A declaration that Defendants’ practices described herein violate 47 C.F.R. §
64.1200(c);

f. A declaration that Defendants’ violation of 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200(c) were willful and
knowing;

g. Anaward of actual and statutory damages for Plaintiff and each member of the Class
in the amount of $1,500.00;

h. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs; and
i. Such further and other relief as this Court deems reasonable and just.
JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Dated: September 17, 2021 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Robert Doyle

Robert Doyle

Attorney at Law

26 Netcong Heights, #9
Netcong, NJ 07857
(646) 434-7539
Rdoyle235@Gmail.com
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AO 239 (Rev. 01/15) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Long Form)

Page 1 of 5

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

Robert Doyle

for the

District of New Jersey

Plaintiff/Petitioner
V.
Y.Z. Commerce LLC and CreditFix.com

Defendant/Respondent

N N N N N

]

Civil Action No.

APPLICATION TO PROCEED IN DISTRICT COURT WITHOUT PREPAYING FEES OR COSTS

(Long Form)

Affidavit in Support of the Application

I am a plaintiff or petitioner in this case and declare
that I am unable to pay the costs of these proceedings
and that I am entitled to the relief requested. | declare
under penalty of perjury that the information below is
true and understand that a false statement may result in

a dismissal of my claims.

Signed:  /s/ Robert Doyle

Instructions

Complete all questions in this application and then sign it.
Do not leave any blanks: if the answer to a question is “0,”
“none,” or “not applicable (N/A),” write that response. If
you need more space to answer a question or to explain your
answer, attach a separate sheet of paper identified with your
name, your case's docket number, and the question number.

Date:

09/17/2021

1. For both you and your spouse estimate the average amount of money received from each of the following

sources during the past 12 months. Adjust any amount that was received weekly, biweekly, quarterly,

semiannually, or annually to show the monthly rate. Use gross amounts, that is, amounts before any deductions

for taxes or otherwise.

Income source Average monthly income Income amount expected
amount during the past 12 next month
months
You Spouse You Spouse
Employment $ 75.00 |$ 0.00($ 0.00 0.00
Self-employment
ploy $ 0.00|%$ 0.00($ 0.00 0.00
Income from real property (such as rental income
property (su income) g 0.00($ 0.00[$ 0.00 0.00
Interest and dividends
$ 0.01($ 0.00|$ 0.00 0.00
Gifts
$ 0.00|$ 0.00|$ 0.00 0.00
Alimon
y $ 0.00 [$ 0.00($ 0.00 0.00
Child support $ 0.00|$ 0.00[$ 0.00 0.00




Case 2:21-cv-17257-JMV-LDW Document 1-1 Filed 09/17/21 Page 2 of 5 PagelD: 12

Page 2 of 5
AO 239 (Rev. 01/15) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Long Form)
Retirement (such as social security, pensions, annuities,
. $ 0.00($ 0.00($ 0.00 [$ 0.00
insurance)
Disability (such as social security, insurance payments) $ 1728.00($ 1738 988.40 |$ 988.40
Unemployment payments
ployment pay $ 0.00[$ 0.00($ 0.00 |$ 0.00
Public-assistance (such as welfare) $ 0.00($ 0.00l$ 0.00 |$ 0.00
Other (specify): $ 0.00($ 0.00[$ 0.00 |$ 0.00
. 1,803.01 10,728.00 988.40 988.40
Total monthly income: $ $ 3 $
2. List your employment history for the past two years, most recent employer first. (Gross monthly pay is before taxes or
other deductions.)
Employer Address Dates of employment Gross
monthly pay
Joshpe Mooney Paltzik 1407 Broadway, New York 2/2021 $ 75.00
$
3. List your spouse's employment history for the past two years, most recent employer first. (Gross monthly pay is before
taxes or other deductions.)
Employer Address Dates of employment Gross
monthly pay
None $ 0.00
$
$
4. How much cash do you and your spouse have? $ 622.00
Below, state any money you or your spouse have in bank accounts or in any other financial institution.
Financial institution Type of account Amount you have Amount your
spouse has
Chase Checking $ 350.00 |$
Santander Checking $ 200.00 [$
TDAmeritrade Checking $ 2.00 |$ 70.00

If you are a prisoner, you must attach a statement certified by the appropriate institutional officer showing all receipts,
expenditures, and balances during the last six months in your institutional accounts. If you have multiple accounts,
perhaps because you have been in multiple institutions, attach one certified statement of each account.
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AO 239 (Rev. 01/15) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Long Form)
5. List the assets, and their values, which you own or your spouse owns. Do not list clothing and ordinary
household furnishings.
Assets owned by you or your spouse
Home (value) $ 0.00
Other real estate (value)
$ 0.00
Motor vehicle #1 (value) $ 750.00
Make and year: Ford 2006
Model: Taurus
Registration #: J63ELT
Motor vehicle #2 (value) $ 0.00
Make and year: None
Model:
Registration #:
Other assets (value) $ 0.00
Other assets (value) $ 0.00
6. State every person, business, or organization owing you or your spouse money, and the amount owed.
Person owing you or your spouse Amount owed to you Amount owed to your spouse
money
None $ 0.00($ 0.00
$ $
$ $
7. State the persons who rely on you or your spouse for support.
Name (or, if under 18, initials only) Relationship Age
None




Case 2:21-cv-17257-JMV-LDW Document 1-1 Filed 09/17/21 Page 4 of 5 PagelD: 14

AO 239 (Rev. 01/15) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Long Form)

Page 4 of 5

8. Estimate the average monthly expenses of you and your family. Show separately the amounts paid by your
spouse. Adjust any payments that are made weekly, biweekly, quarterly, semiannually, or annually to show the

monthly rate.

You Your spouse

Rent or home-mortgage payment (including lot rented for mobile home)

Are real estate taxes included? Yes [ No 1,170.00 0.00

Is property insurance included? 3 Yes 3 No
Utilities (electricity, heating fuel, water, sewer, and telephone) 130.00 0.00
Home maintenance (repairs and upkeep) 20.00 0.00
Food 1,000.00 0.00
Clothing 20.00 0.00
Laundry and dry-cleaning 30.00 0.00
Medical and dental expenses 400.00 0.00
Transportation (not including motor vehicle payments) 100.00 0.00
Recreation, entertainment, newspapers, magazines, etc. 0.00 0.00
Insurance (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments)

Homeowner's or renter's: 0.00 0.00

Life: 0.00 0.00

Health: 0.00 0.00

Motor vehicle: 100.00 0.00

Other: 0.00 0.00
Taxes (not deducted from wages or included in mortgage payments) (specify):
Instaliment payments

Motor vehicle: 0.00 0.00

Credit card (name): A.E. Visa M.C. Discover 1,000.00 0.00

Department store (name): 0.00 0.00

Other: 0.00 0.00
Alimony, maintenance, and support paid to others 0.00 0.00
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Page 5 of 5
AO 239 (Rev. 01/15) Application to Proceed in District Court Without Prepaying Fees or Costs (Long Form)
Regular expenses for operation of business, profession, or farm (attach detailed
e P P (attach detailed g 0.00($ 0.00
Other (specify): $ 0.00|$ 0.00
3,970.00 0.00
Total monthly expenses: $

10.

11.

12.

Do you expect any major changes to your monthly income or expenses or in your assets or liabilities during the
next 12 months?

3 Yes B No If yes, describe on an attached sheet.

Have you spent — or will you be spending — any money for expenses or attorney fees in conjunction with this
lawsuit? 3 Yes B No

If yes, how much? $

Provide any other information that will help explain why you cannot pay the costs of these proceedings.

My wife is completely disabled and | am almost completely disabled. In the last year, | worked for 20 hours
and received $900, which averages $75 per month. | owe over $50,000 to friends, family, and credit cards.

Identify the city and state of your legal residence.
Netcong, NJ

Your daytime phone number: (646) 434-7539

Yourage: 54 Your years of schooling: 20
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AO 240A (Rev. 01/09; NJ 06/17; NJ 12/20) Order to Proceed Without Prepaying Fees or Costs

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

ORDER ON APPLICATION
ROBERT DOYLE TO PROCEED WITHOUT
PREPAYMENT OF FEES

Civil Action No. 2:21-cv-17257-JMV-LDW

Y Z COMMERCE LLC et al

Having considered the application to proceed without prepayment of fees under 28 U.S.C.
A1915, IT IS ORDERED the application is:

GRANTED, and

The clerk is ordered to file the complaint,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, the clerk issue a summons and the U.S. Marshal
serve a copy of the complaint, summons and this order upon the defendant(s) as

directed by the plaintiff(s). All costs of service shall be advanced by the United

States.

DENIED, for the following reasons:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, the clerk is ordered to close the file. Plaintiff(s)
may submit payment in the amount of $402 within 14 days from the date of this
order to reopen the case without further action from the Court.

ENTERED this day of , 2021 ¢/
Signature of Judicial Officer

John M. Vazquez, USDJ
Name and Title of Judicial Officer
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